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The President's House at Gallaudet College is a large, red brick high

| Victorian Gothic Revival house located on a knoll at the southwest corner of
the campus planned by Olmsted,Vaux & Co. The house erected in 1867-68 and
designed by F.C. Withers is approximately sixty feet north of Florida Avenue.
It is surrounded by informally landscaped open space. A circular drive sep~
arates it from a row of three High Victorian Gothic Revival Professors'
Houses at the north., A large green separatesit from academic and administra-
tive buildings at the northeast. The house is oriented so that its main
facade faces north toward the faculty houses, Most of the buildings on the
campus visible from the President's House were designed by F.C. Withers and
were built between 1867 and 1885.

ber- that in, the 1860's the school had a suburban location., The building's
design is in the mid-fiineteenth century Downing tradition of a dwelling with
informal landscaping, picturesque features, and an open plan. There are also
features characteristic of post~Civil War architecture such as the 'construc-
tional coloration" and the greater plasticity (particularly present in the
entrance portal).

Thé building has a number of parts and numerous accents from dormers, gables,
chimneys, and projections, However, there is a unity from the general com-
pactness of the outline and the careful organization of openings. This unity
is enhanced by the use of similar decorative motifs.,

The house has a 2-1/2-story, brick main block approximately 53'8" by 48'.
This block has a broadly overhanging, steep mansard roof broken over each
bay by a dormer, gable, or hipped gable. The main block has three bays on
its north-south facades and two on its east facade. Centrally located on
the north side is a projecting 2-1/2-story brick entrance bay, 14'5" by 10'.
Extending the full length of the east side is a one-story frame veranda. A
semi-elliptical, one-~story bay projects from the southwest bay of the south
facade. At the west is a two-story brick service wing, 30'9" by 26'. This
wing has a steep mansard roof broken by gables over 2nd story windows.
Attached to the service wingvat the west is an enclosed, onerstory, frame
porch, one bay wide. A frame, 1~1/2-story stair wing with shed roof occupies
the northwest corner between the main block and the service wing.

The main block and service wing have red brick walls laid in common bond in
Flemish variation. There is variegation due to the brownstone foundation
and the brownstone bands connecting window lintels. Most openings are
rectangular with 2/2-lights. Over major windows are alternating brick and
brownstone voussoirs in pointed arches. The arches are filled in with thin
bricks laid in a recessed herringbone pattern. Around the main entrance is
a very plastic, one-story brownstone portal with buttresses. The ornament
on this portal and on the tympanum of the window above the door is derived
from James K. Colling's Art Foliage (1865).1 The frame porch at the east

TMuch of the descriptive information is from Frank Kowsky's "The Nineteenth
Century Buildings on the Campus of Gallaudét'College,(Washington, D.C."

The house is very suburban or rural in character and it is important to rememy

(Continued on Form 10-300a)

336

SNOITLODODNYLSNI



INSTRUCTIONS

SEE

PERIOD (Check One or More as Appropriate)
[C] Pre-Columbian| [ 16th Century {1 18th Century [J 20th Century
[ 15th Century {TJ 17th Century 19th Century

'SPECIFIC DATE(S) (If Applicable and Known) 1867-68

AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE (Check One or More as Appropriate)

Abor iginal X Education [ Political [} Urban Planning
[} Prehistoric [} Engineering [} Religion/Phi- [ Other (Specify)
] Historic [ Industry losophy

[ Agriculture [J Invention (7] Science

Architecture [J Landscape [T Sculpture

O Art Architecture Social/Human-

[J Commerce [3 Literature itarian

[C] Communications O Military {1 Theater

[J Conservation [ Music [ Transportation

STATEMEN.T OF SIGNIF.ICANCE . " '
The Joint Committee on Landmarks has designated the President's House,

Gallaudet College, a Category II Landmark of importance which contributes
significantly to the cultural heritage and visual beauty of the District of
Columbia, The large, red-brick, High Victorian Gothic Revival residence
was designed by Frederick C. Withers of the leading mid-nineteenth century
firm of Vaux, Withers & Co. It is a well=-preserved and handsomely detailed
example of a large residence in the tradition of Downing's rural houses of
the 1840's, In addition, the house has the polychromy and plasticit¥ char-
acteristic of post-Civil War architecture, Since it was erected in 1867-68,
the building has served as the home of the president of the nation's only
college for the deaf, 1Its siting was determined by Olmsted, Vaux & Co,.
when that leading landscape architecture and planning firm made a general
plan for the grounds in 1866.

In 1857 Amos Kendall established a primary school for deaf and blind child-
ren in the District of Columbia across the boundary line of the Federal City
at Eighth Street, N.E, Edward M. Gallaudet became superintendent of the
nascent school, Gallaudet had a vision of a government supported college
for the deaf, and in 1864 the Columbia Institution for the Deaf and Dumb was
given collegiate powers. (In 1865 blind students were taught elsewhere.

In 1894 the college's name was changed to Gallaudet College in honor of
Thomas Hopkins Gallaudet, Edward M., Gallaudet's father and the founder of
the first school for the deaf in the United States.)

The school received support from the United States Government and care
was taken to insure that it expanded in an orderly fashion. In 1866 Olmsted,
Vaux & Co. made a master plan of the campus. From 1866 to 1870 substantial
development took place and great care was taken to follow the 1866 plan.

On December 14, 1866, Edward Gallaudet, the school president, requested
Olmsted, Vaux & Co. to proceed to design three buildings for the campus,

as he hoped to begin the chapel, the president's house, and one professor's
house the next year. The plans for these buildings were actually made by
the architectural firm of Vaux, Withers & Co, This firm was closely
associated with the school's planners, as Vaux was a member of both firms.

Frederick C. Withers (1828-1901) was the partner who designed the buildings

at Gallaudet, Withers was an English architect who immigrated to the United
States around 1852 to work with Andrew J. Downing, the popularizer of the
(Continued on Form 10-300a)
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has king post braces and quatrefoil ensemble, This porch is in poor condition,

The first floor plan of the main block has a central hall with plant room at
the south and two rooms on each.'side., Between the west rooms is a handsome
stair. The plan exhibits the openness, concern for views, and separgtion of
service wing characteristic of Downing's plans. The additien of the plant room
is a post=Civil War characteristic and possibly derived from a design 1n Robert
Kerr's The Gentlemen's House (1864).

The interior has a number of outstanding decorative features. The main rooms
of the first floor have dark woodwork and handsome wood and tile mantels. The
newel of the stair supports an intricate wood carving of an Indian, Handsome
stain glass panels separate the plant room and the central hall.

8. Significance

picturesque Gothic Revival cottage set in informal landscaping. Withers worked
with Olmsted and Vaux on Central Park in New York City. 1In 1866 he formed

a partnership with Vaux which lasted until 1871, This firm is best known for
their High Victorian, Gothic Revival designs, such as Jefferson Market Court-
house in New York City (on the National Register of Historic Places) and

Chapel Hall at Gallaudet College (a National Historic Landmark).

The first building by Withers completed at Gallaudet was the Professor's House
erected in 1867, The President's House and Chapel Hall were begun at the same
time but due to their larger size and more elaborate designs took longer to
complete., Both the President's House and the Professor's House are located on
land purchased from Capt. Patterson after the Olmsted, Vaux and Co, plan was
made., However, both buildings are sited as determined by the plan as it called
for the purchase of this property. The existing original plans for the Pres-
ident's House are dated March 16, 1867, The house's design largely conforms
with these plans., By August 1867 the building was ready for rafters and was
roofed by the winter of 1867. Gallaudet in the Annual Report dated October 26,
1868, stated that the house was nearly complete, The house was occupied by
Gallaudet and his family in December 1868,

Probably in 1887 a frame stair wing was added in the northwest corner where the
main block joins the service wing. From 1887 to 1889 the newly admitted

female students in the college were temporaily living on the third floor of

the President's House, The stairs were probably built to enable the students
to reach their rooms without going through the President's quarters,

The house has undergone relatively little modification excepting the addition
of modern utilities. It contains a considerable amount of furniture dating
from the occupancy of Edward M, Gallaudet,
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